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ROCKY RIVER
CITY HALL

21012 HILLIARD BLVD. . ROCKY RIVER, OHIO 44116 . (440) 331-0600

July 31, 2015

Citizens of the City of Rocky River,
Mayor Pamela E. Bobst, and
Members of City Council

Transmittal of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

The City of Rocky River, Ohio (City) is pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR) for the year ending December 31, 2014. The CAFR is a more extensive report than basic financial
statements and it is believed that the CAFR demonstrates the City's ongoing commitment to be accountable
to its citizenry and to excellence in financial reporting. While no single report can be all things to all people,
the goal in presenting this CAFR is to provide any person or entity interested in the City with information
needed to gain a fair understanding of the City's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Ohio Revised Code Section 117.38 requires that the City certify and file, within one hundred fifty days
after the close of the fiscal year, a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and audited in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. The City issues this CAFR for
the year ended December 31, 2014 therefore.

The CAFR consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City. Consequently
management assumes responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information contained in this
report, based upon a comprehensive internal control system that has been established for that purpose. To
provide a reasonable for making these representations, management of the City has established a thorough
internal control framework that is designed to both protect the City’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to
compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the City’s financial statements in accordance
with GAAP. The City strives to maintain a dynamic system of internal controls and procedures — including
internal control over financial reporting — designed to ensure reliable financial record-keeping, transparent
financial reporting and disclosure and protection of assets. Because the cost of internal control should not
exceed anticipated benefits, the objective of the internal control system is to provide reasonable, rather than
absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any material misstatements.

The City maintains an active Audit Committee to review the audit process and to report to and make
recommendations to City Council. The three Audit Committee members are residents of the City with
expertise in financial administration and auditing.

The financial statements of the City have been audited by independent auditor Ciuni & Panichi, Inc. The
objective of an audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Based upon the results of
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the audit, Ciuni & Panichi, Inc. concluded that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unqualified
opinion that the City’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 are fairly presented in
conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the Financial
Section of the CAFR.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the Independent Auditor’s Report
and provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A

complement this Letter of Transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

Profile of the City of Rocky River, Ohio

The City of Rocky River is an established residential community located in northeastern Ohio that covers
4.48 square miles along the southern shore of Lake Erie west of the City of Cleveland, in Cuyahoga County.
The Rocky River, which drains into Lake Erie, forms the eastern border of the City. The City’s population
according to the 2010 Census was 20,213. The City is a home rule municipal corporation established
pursuant to the general laws of the State of Ohio and its own charter. The current charter, which provides for
the Mayor/Council form of government, was originally adopted in 1960 and last amended in 2014.

The City is governed by a full-time Mayor and seven members of City Council who serve two year terms.
The Law Director is also an elected office holder who serves two year terms. The Mayor appoints the heads
of the following departments: Building, Economic and Community Development, Engineering, Finance,
Office on Aging, Recreation and Safety-Service. As of December 31, the City had 168 full-time employees,
including the Rocky River Municipal Court.

The City provides various services including police and fire protection, including emergency medical
services, parks and recreation, senior services, street maintenance, sanitary and storm sewer services,
planning and zoning, and general government services. Public health services are provided by contract with
the Cuyahoga County Board of Health. Located in the City are the Rocky River Wastewater Treatment Plant
and the Rocky River Municipal Court. Both provide services to a jurisdiction that extends to several
neighboring communities.

In addition to access to services by government entities, City residents may participate in the activities of a
variety of local private institutions in the City including the Cleveland Yachting Club; Westwood Country
Club; Oakwood Beach; Parklawn Beach; Wagar Beach; Lutheran West High School; Magnificat High
School and numerous private elementary schools and churches that contribute to the sense of community in
the City.

Economic Conditions

Local Economy  Because of the proximity to major cultural, educational and medical facilities in
Northeastern Ohio and ease of travel in the area, the City experiences a degree of economic stability. More
recently, the City has experienced economic challenges of the northeast Ohio region and nation as a whole.
The City seems to benefit from the corporate headquarters located in Westlake, Ohio, a community bordering
the City to the west.

A fiscally responsible approach to economic factors associated with managing a built-out suburb and an
understanding of mutual benefits to be derived from intergovernmental cooperation with neighboring
communities are overriding themes applied in the administration of the City’s long-range goals.

The tax base of the City’s municipal income tax consists of business (and employees) located within the City
as well as individual, resident taxpayers. The largest organizations located within the City generating income
tax revenue are the City and the Rocky River City School District. Other significant industries in the City
are senior citizen congregate housing and health care; banking; insurance (including health); and retail.
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Relative to residents’ incomes, the website www.city-data.com reports the estimated median household
income in 2013 (the most recent data available) in the City was $67,456; while for the State of Ohio that
amount was $48,081.

City income tax collections increased by about four and a half percent from 2013. Components of income
tax collections are:

Component 2012 2013 2014
Employee Withholding $4,565,005 $4,781,813 $4,977,855
Business Profit 662,489 779,821 1,007,954
Residence Tax 3,727,641 4,115,447 4,149,847
Penalties & Interest 129,546 157,338 145,905

Total $9,084,681 $9,834,419 | $10,281,561

The ballot issue put forth by City Council in November 2014 to increase the municipal income tax was
successful. The purpose of the increase was to provide resources for capital projects and equipment
purchases, either directly or through the payment of debt service for those obligations which had previously
been supported by estate tax revenue, a State of Ohio shared revenue. The residents voted to raise income
tax from 1.5 percent to 2.0 percent and increase the reciprocity credit for income taxes paid to another city
from 1.0 percent to 1.5 percent. As indicated in the table above, the City is experiencing some improvement
from the income tax revenue source due to a recovering economy.

The local impact to property values of the slow recovery of the real estate market is reflected in the assessed
value amounts shown below:

Component 2012 2013 2014
Residential $574,355,230 | $575,421,090 | $577,507,960
Commercial 101,218,550 | 102,015,460 | 102,497,650
Public Utility 7,450,940 8,289,730 8,706,580

Total | $683,024,720 | $685,726,280 | $688,712,190

As compiled by the website www.city-data.com, the estimated median house or condo value in 2013 (the
most recent data available) was $188,171 in the City while the State of Ohio estimated amount was
$127,000. On behalf of the State of Ohio, the Cuyahoga County Fiscal Officer establishes real property
values within the City for tax purposes.

Both of these revenue sources are expected to be favorably impacted by two recent economic development
activity projects. First, a new luxury apartment complex became fully occupied in the third quarter of 2014.
The complex brings over 260 additional housing units to the City; its construction straddled the years 2013
and 2014 and the full value of the new construction will be added to the City’s tax base in 2015.
Construction began on a Whole Foods retail store in late 2014 with an opening expected in August 2015.

The impact of legislation enacted in 2011 by the General Assembly of the State of Ohio to stabilize the
financial position of the State is lessening. First, when the tangible personal property tax was phased out
effective January 1, 2009, the law provided that the City would be reimbursed for the lost tax revenue on a
sliding scale through 2018. With the 2011 legislation, the reimbursement was discontinued. In addition, the
distributions by the State of Ohio of the Local Government Fund that were basically frozen at the 2010
distribution level through June 30, 2013, have indicated recovery. Finally, the Estate Tax, which in the last
three years it was in place, provided an average of $1,345,258 in revenue to the City annually, was
eliminated effective January 1, 2013.



Major Initiatives

Management of various phases of significant infrastructure improvement projects was the focus of attention
of the City during 2014. The table below updates certain of the projects described in last year’s CAFR.

Project Project Cost Status Construction Schedule
Valley View Area Sanitary Sewer $4,979,520 | Project Complete (Loan amortization to
begin in 2015.)
Hampton Road Sanitary Sewer $5,409,600 | Project Complete (Loan amortization to
begin in 2015.)
Frazier Drive Sewer Improvement $4,681,600 | Phase I completed on | 10/01/2012 to 12/31/2014
time; Phase II began
in 2013

Interest free loans, provided by the Ohio Public Works Commission (OPWC), an agency of the State of
Ohio, and a local matching commitment provide resources for these projects.

The next project funded in conjunction with an interest free loan from the OPWC is:

Project Project Cost Status Construction Schedule
Avalon Drive Sewer Improvement $7,054,000 | Engineering for | 05/15/2015 to 12/31/2017
Phase I began in 2013

These projects have been determined as priorities within the comprehensive sewer maintenance and
rehabilitation plan drafted by the City Engineer in 2006. Completion of the projects will serve to mitigate the
potential for sanitary sewer overflows and reduce the risk of compliance penalties to the City.

Long-term Financial Planning

The City recovered from the recent declining revenue environment with limited service reductions by 1) staff
reductions through attrition; 2) prudent planning; 3) debt refinancing and 4) operating cost control. The
City’s moderate reserves also served as budget stabilizing force during that time period. The City monitors
cash flow in comparison to budget expectations throughout the year and attempts to be in a position to react
to unexpected outside influences.

The Municipal Income Tax revenue source is economically sensitive. In 2012 with the modest stabilization
that occurred in the economy, the City rebounded to a revenue level similar to 2007. In 2013, the income tax
revenue surpassed the 2012 level by about 8.5 percent (non-GAAP budgetary basis) and the 2014 revenue
grew further. The City buffers this economically sensitive revenue stream by conservative budgeting. And
also, where actual revenue exceeds estimated revenue such excess is not appropriated and carries over in the
General Fund budgetary balance to the next year.

The five year cash flow trend of funding data relevant in long term financial planning is as follows:

Source Percent
Income Tax 31
Property Tax 26
Sewer Charges User Charges 11
Recreation Center User Charges 7
Grants/Loans 6
Other Revenue 4
Estate Tax 4
Gas & License Taxes 3
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Local Government Fund
Senior Center User Fees
Ambulance Fees

Fines

Interest Earnings

— = NN

The City uses on-going analysis of these and other revenue sources as a basis for its annual budget while
balancing the need for reserves. In the most recent five years, the General Fund reserve (non-GAAP
budgetary basis) has fallen within a range of 9 to 27 percent for an average of about 16 percent.

Mutual agreements with other governments to provide services to City residents are always a consideration
for any projects undertaken. Currently, income tax collection, wastewater treatment, certain safety services,
judicial services, park management, air traffic monitoring and marine patrol are provided by contract with
other governments or managed by multi-jurisdictional related entities.

And most meaningfully, the Agreement between the Cities of Cleveland and Rocky River for Suburban
Distribution Asset Renewal Program Project Reimbursement put in place in 2012, has provided ongoing

resources for infrastructure support to City resident needs.

Awards and Acknowledgements

Certificate of Achievement  The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and
Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement of Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for
its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ending December 31, 2013. This was the twenty-
seventh year that the City has received this prestigious award. A “Certificate of Achievement” is awarded to
the City when its publication is issued with easily readable language; is efficiently organized and
comprehensive; and conforms to the programs standards for an annual financial report. This report must
satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a one year period only. The City believes the current CAFR
continues to meet the award program requirements, and will submit it to determine its eligibility for another
certificate.

Acknowledgements  The publication of the CAFR is a significant step in the ongoing effort toward
superior financial reporting. City Council’s commitment to excellence of the City in general and support for
this project in particular are sincerely appreciated.

The City would like to express its appreciation to the firm of Ciuni & Panichi, Inc. for its professional
services for assistance with the preparation of the 2014 CAFR. The CAFR represents a coordinated effort
among departments of the City; each department takes pride and care managing the assets of the public that
are under its control. This report is meant to demonstrate and document such effort.

Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Michael A. Thomas

Michael A. Thomas, CPA
Director of Finance
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CPAs and Business Advisors

Expect More*

Independent Auditor’s Report

Members of the City Council
Rocky River, Ohio

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Rocky River, Ohio
(the “City”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

C) C&P Advisors, LLC 25201 Chagrin Boulevard
Ciuni & Panichi, Inc. Cleveland, Ohio 44122.5683

C&P Wealth Management, LLC p. 216.831.7171

f. 216.831.3020

o G = www.cp-advisors.com
Independent Member of
Geneva Group International



Members of the City Council
Rocky River, Ohio

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of December 31, 2014, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the
General and Recreation Center Funds for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 5 through 16 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit
of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide
any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual nhonmajor
fund financial statements and schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on them.



Members of the City Council
Rocky River, Ohio

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 31, 2015 on
our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose
of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Carie b Glanebs | .

Cleveland, Ohio
July 31, 2015
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

The administration of the City of Rocky River, Ohio (the “City”) offers this Management’s Discussion and
Analysis to provide a narrative overview and analysis of the City’s financial activities for the year ended
December 31, 2014. The intent of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis is to look at the City’s financial
performance as a whole; readers should also review the Transmittal Letter and the basic financial statements to
enhance their understanding of the City’s financial performance.

Financial Highlights

Key financial highlights for 2014 are:

o Total revenues were $35,555,433, an increase of 15.9 percent from 2013. Total expenses were
$30,900,646, an increase of 10.5 percent from 2013. Based on the increase in total revenue and
expenditures, total net position increased $4,654,787 or 6.5 percent.

o Total assets increased by $5,146,757 or 4.9 percent from 2013.

e Total liabilities increased by $580,039 or 2.1 percent from 2013.

e Total capital assets increased by $4,633,548 or 6.6 percent from 2013.

Total outstanding long-term liabilities increased $1,320,069 from 2013, an increase of 5.5 percent.
Using This Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) consists of a series of financial statements and notes to
those statements. These statements are prepared and organized so the reader can understand the City as a financial
whole or as an entire operating entity. The financial statements proceed to provide an increasingly detailed look
at the City’s specific financial condition.

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of the whole
City, presenting both an aggregate view of the City’s finances and a longer-term view of those assets. Major fund
financial statements provide the next level of detail. For governmental funds, these statements tell how services
were financed in the short-term as well as what dollars remain for future spending. The fund financial statements
also look at the City’s most significant funds with all other non-major funds presented in total in one column.

Reporting the City of Rocky River as a Whole
Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities

While this document contains information about the funds used by the City to provide services to citizens, the
view of the City as a whole looks at all financial transactions and asks the question, “How did the City do
financially during 2014?” The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities answer this question.
These statements include all assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources using the accrual basis of accounting similar to the accounting method used by the private sector. This
basis of accounting takes into account all of the current year’s revenues and expenses regardless of when the cash
is received or paid.



City of Rocky River, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

These two statements report the City’s net position and changes therein. The City’s net position, the difference
between assets and deferred outflows of resources, what the City owns, and liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources, what the City owes, is one way to measure the City’s financial health, or financial position. Over
time, increases or decreases in the City’s net position is an indicator of whether its financial health is improving
or deteriorating. Also other nonfinancial factors such as changes in the City’s property tax base, municipal
income tax base, and the condition of the City’s capital assets (roads, buildings, and sewer lines) should be
considered to assess the overall health of the City. In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities, the City is divided into two kinds of activities:

e Governmental activities — Most of the City’s basic services are reported here, including police, fire,
streets, refuse collection, parks, recreation, and general administration. Property taxes, municipal income
taxes, state shared revenues, court fines, and recreation fees finance most of these activities.

e Business-type activities — The City charges a fee to customers to help it cover all or most of the cost of
certain services it provides. The City’s sanitary sewer activity is reported here.

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities are divided into the following categories:

Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position (Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources minus Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of
Resources)

Program Revenues and Expenses

. General Revenues

Net Position Beginning of Year and Year’s End

Reporting the Most Significant Funds of the City of Rocky River
Fund Financial Statements

The presentation of the City’s major funds begins on page 20. Fund financial statements provide detailed
information about the City’s major funds based on the restrictions on the use of monies. The City has established
many funds that account for the multitude of services, facilities and infrastructure provided to City residents.
However, these fund financial statements focus on the City’s most significant funds. The City’s major funds are
the General, Recreation Center, General Obligation Bond Retirement, and Capital Improvement Funds.



City of Rocky River, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Governmental Funds

Most of the City’s activities are reported in the governmental funds that focus on how money flows into and out
of those funds and the balances left at year-end available for spending in future periods. Governmental funds are
reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which measures cash and all other
financial assets that are expected to be readily converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a
detailed short-term view of the City’s general operations and the basic services it provides. Government fund
information helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in
the near future on services provided to residents. The relationship (or differences) between governmental
activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is
reconciled in the financial statements.

Proprietary Funds

The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds. The first, enterprise funds, are used to report the
same functions presented as business-type activities. The City uses an enterprise fund to account for the
operations of its Sanitary Sewer Fund. The second, internal service funds, are an accounting device used to
accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various functions. The City maintains this type of fund
to account for health, prescription, and dental related employee benefits. Because this activity predominantly
affects governmental rather than business functions, it has been included within the governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements.

Proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial
statements, only in more detail. The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found beginning on
page 30 of this report.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the City’s administrative
oversight. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources
are not available to support the City’s own programs. The City has an Investment Trust Fund and agency funds
to report within the fiduciary fund category. Agency funds are reported on a full accrual basis and only present
the Statements of Net Position.

Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full understanding of the data provided in the

government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the basic financial statements can be found starting
on page 35 of this report.



City of Rocky River, Ohio

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

The City of Rocky River as a Whole

The Statement of Net Position looks at the City as a whole. Table 1 provides a summary of the City’s Net
Position for 2014 compared to 2013 balances.

Assets:
Current and Other Assets
Capital Assets, Net

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities:
Current and Other Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities

Due Within One Year

Due In More Than One Year

Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital
Assets
Restricted for:
Capital Projects
Debt Service
Refuse and Recycling
Office on Aging
Street Construction
and Maintenance
Law Enforcement
and Education
Security of Persons
and Property
Community Impact
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Table 1

Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated Restated

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
$ 25,341,415 $ 24345239 § 9411,219 $ 9,894,186 § 34,752,634 $§ 34,239,425
53,438,383 49,752,755 21,403,770 20,455,850 74,842,153 70,208,605
78.779.798 74.097.994 30,814,989 30,350,036 109.594.787 104.448.030
329.029 149.588 0 0 329.029 149.588
2,059,435 1,812,205 335,055 1,322,315 2,394,490 3,134,520
1,399,724 1,943,262 198,287 66,536 1,598,011 2,009,798
14,996,868 15,610,435 8,795,331 6,449,908 23,792,199 22,060,343
18.456,027 19,365,902 9.328.673 7.838.759 27.784.,700 27.204.661
6.388.307 6.296.935 0 0 6.388.307 6.296.935
41,586,463 36,713,198 12,478,608 14,018,823 54,065,071 50,732,021
4,801,489 5,500,388 0 0 4,801,489 5,500,388
869,385 863,940 0 0 869,385 863,940
119,601 230,386 0 0 119,601 230,386
159,197 115,703 0 0 159,197 115,703
881,576 1,012,978 0 0 881,576 1,012,978
225,765 225,320 0 0 225,765 225,320
573,715 689,792 0 0 573,715 689,792
3,312 3,312 0 0 3,312 3,312
5,043,990 3,229,728 9,007,708 8.492.454 14,051,698 11,722,182
$ 54,264,493 § 48,584,745 $ 21,486,316 $ 22,511,277 $ _ 75,750,809 $ _ 71,096,022

Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. For the City, total
assets and deferred outflows of resources exceed total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by
$75,750,809 as of December 31, 2014.
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Net investment in capital assets as of December 31, 2014, was $54,065,071 which reflects the investments in
capital assets (land, construction in progress, buildings, improvements, machinery and equipment, furniture and
fixtures, and infrastructure) less any related debt outstanding used to acquire those assets. These capital assets
are used to provide services to the City’s citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although, the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted
that resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since the capital assets themselves
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Total assets for 2014 increased by $5,146,757 or 4.9 percent when compared to 2013. The increase in total
assets was due primarily to the increase in capital assets related to the City’s completion of two major
infrastructure projects during 2014. The City’s total liabilities increased $580,039 or 2.1 percent when compared
to 2013. The largest increase was due to the issuance of OPWC loans in the current year.

Table 2 shows the changes in net position for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to 2013.

Table 2
Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated Restated
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services $ 6,332,122 § 6,637,332 $ 4,203,128 $ 2,989,388 $ 10,535,250 $ 9,626,720
Operating Grants and
Contributions 1,033,085 1,029,670 0 0 1,033,085 1,029,670
Capital Grants and
Contributions 4.946.962 608.249 0 28,107 4.946.962 636.356

Total Program Revenues 12,312,169 8,275,251 4,203,128 3.017.495 16,515,297 11,292,746

General Revenues:

Property Taxes 6,527,523 6,422,407 0 0 6,527,523 6,422,407
Municipal Income Taxes 10,246,564 9,734,666 0 0 10,246,564 9,734,666
Franchise Tax 229,792 214,782 0 0 229,792 214,782
Admissions Tax 58,572 31,131 0 0 58,572 31,131
Grants and Entitlements not
Restricted to Specific
Programs 1,556,143 2,668,592 0 0 1,556,143 2,668,592
Investment Income 21,536 8,083 0 0 21,536 8,083
Other 400,006 299,771 0 0 400,006 299,771
Total General Revenues 19,040,136 19.379.432 0 0 19,040,136 19,379.432
Total Revenues 31,352,305 27,654,683 4,203,128 3,017,495 35,555,433 30,672,178
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Table 2
Changes in Net Position (continued)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated Restated
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Program Expenses:

General Government 6,700,108 5,913,026 0 0 6,700,108 5,913,026
Security of Persons and

Property 9,306,477 9,207,482 0 0 9,306,477 9,207,482
Public Health 1,175,476 1,335,546 0 0 1,175,476 1,335,546
Transportation 2,711,126 2,508,065 0 0 2,711,126 2,508,065
Leisure Time Activities 3,200,140 3,531,071 0 0 3,200,140 3,531,071
Community Development 651,553 714,344 0 0 651,553 714,344
Basic Utility Service 1,516,591 1,704,807 0 0 1,516,591 1,704,807
Interest and Fiscal Charges 411,086 703,744 0 0 411,086 703,744
Sanitary Sewer Charges 0 0 5,228,089 2.339.335 5,228,089 2.339.335

Total Program Expenses 25,672,557  25.618.085 5,228,089 2,339,335 30.900.646  27.957.420

Change in Net Position 5,679,748 2,036,598 (1,024,961) 678,160 4,654,787 2,714,758

Net Position, Beginning
of Year, Restated 48,584,745 46,548,147 22,511,277  21.833.117 71,096,022 68,381,264

Net Position, End of Year $ 54,264,493 $ 48,584,745 $ 21.486,316 $ 22,511,277 $ 75,750,809 $ 71,096,022

Governmental Activities

Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $5,679,748 during 2014, compared to an increase in
2013 of $2,036,598. The difference between 2014 and 2013 change in net position is attributable primarily to the
increase in capital assets.

Both program revenues and general revenues fund the City’s governmental activities. The amount that charges
for services revenue contributed to total program revenues decreased $305,210 from 2013 to 2014. Actual
Charges for Services received over that period decreased 4.6 percent. The City collects charges for services for
the operation of the Rocky River Municipal Court; recreation; senior service; and building department fees.

The municipal income tax is the largest source of the City’s general revenues. The municipal income tax rate of
1/2 percent was established by City Ordinance No. 81-67, passed August 28, 1967. The municipal income tax
rate was amended on June 24, 1968 by City Ordinance No. 82-68 to increase the municipal income tax rate to
one percent and then on March 28, 1977, City Ordinance No. 5-77 approved an increase in the municipal income
tax rate to 1-1/2 percent and a change in the tax credit for residents having municipal income taxable in another
community. The municipal income tax revenue amount for 2014 was $10,246,564, a $511,898 increase from
2013. The City monitors its sources of revenue very closely to react to any changes or fluctuations. The City
accounts for municipal income tax revenues in the General Fund.
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Property taxes are 34.3 percent of total general revenues. Because economic and real estate economic and
real estate market conditions compelled the Cuyahoga County Fiscal Officer, who sets real property values,
to decrease the basis for assessed value in the City, this revenue source remained relatively the same
compared to 2013, increasing 1.6 percent. Offsetting the overall decline, the City continues to experience
favorable collections as well as both commercial and residential investment that will grow the tax base when
fully occupied and operational. See page 146 in the Statistical Section of the CAFR.

Grants and entitlements not restricted to specific programs decreased 41.7 percent from 2013 to 2014 due
mostly to less estate tax revenue received in 2014. The amounts collected by the City under provisions of the
Ohio Revised Code Chapter 5731, estate tax, are recorded as entitlements. During 2014, $298,532 was
received as current distributions. The City accounts for estate tax revenue in the General Fund. There will
be reduced revenue from grants and entitlements not restricted to specific programs since the Ohio General
Assembly repealed the estate tax effective for dates of the death after January 1, 2013.

Total program expenses for 2014 were $25,672,557, a 0.2 percent increase from 2013 levels. Program
category increases occurred for general government, security of persons and property, public health,
transportation and interest and fiscal charges. Moderating those increases were decreases in the program
categories of leisure time activities, community development and basic utility service.

Various program category functions of both the City’s governmental activities as well as its business-type
activities increased due to increase in capital asset expenditures during the current year. These increases
were primarily due to the completion of two large infrastructure projects during 2014.

Lower costs in the various program category functions of the City’s governmental activities as well as its
business-type activities were achieved by the City’s favorable health claims year. Continuing to contribute
to favorable health claim payments are both claim cost reductions as well as lower covered lives due to lower
employee headcount.

During 2014, the largest program category function for the City is security of persons and property, which
includes police and fire protection. This program accounts for 36.3 percent of expenses and increased by
$98,995 or 1.1 percent from 2013. Compensation levels due to employee turnover as well as operating costs
increasing from the prior year caused the overall increase in expenditures within this program.

The general government program category accounts for 26.1 percent of program expenses. This program
category reports the accumulated activity of the Rocky River Municipal Court; and other administrative
functions of the City. An increase of $787,082 or 13.3 percent occurred in this program category from 2013
to 2014. The increase in expense is due to the increase in capital outlay expenditures due to the City’s
progress on multiple road and storm sewer projects in the current year.

11
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The leisure time activities program category was the third largest for 2014 and comprises 12.5 percent of
program expenses which decreased by 9.4 percent from 2013. The decrease was due to City’s cost control
efforts which resulted in less expenditures overall, within this program during the current year.

Business-Type Activities

For business-type activities of the City, charges for services are the primary source of revenue. The noted
decrease in charges for services represents the impact of lower measured water consumption (which is the
basis for billing sewer charges for services). Following the restructuring of sanitary sewer rates by
eliminating fixed charges and using only water consumption for billing charges, this program revenue is
more affected by fluctuations in water consumption. Capital grants and contributions revenue decreased
from 2013 to 2014. This revenue category decrease is due to the increase in capital expenditures related to
the completion of Phase II and Phase III of the Valley View and Hampton Storm and Sanitary Sewer projects
in 2014. The Program Expenses are comprised of charges to operate the Rocky River Wastewater Treatment
Plant as well as the cost to operate a crew of six employees to maintain the sanitary sewer collection system.

The City’s Funds
Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on a near-term inflows, outflows, and
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements.
In particular, the unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources
available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. Information about the City’s governmental funds begins
on page 20. These funds are accounted for by using the modified accrual basis of accounting.

As of December 31, 2014, the City’s governmental funds reported combining ending fund balance of
$12,774,624. Of that amount, $2,212,279 constitutes unassigned fund balances, which is available for
spending at the City’s discretion. The $10,562,345 remainder of fund balance is reported as nonspendable,
restricted, or assigned to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already been
committed to contracts and purchases of prior period(s).

All governmental funds had total revenues of $27,054,306 and expenditures of $26,581,870, leaving a
$618,435 current year increase in fund balance, after consideration of $145,999 in net other financing
sources.

The General Fund is the most significant fund as it is the source for providing a significant portion of
resources for governmental activities such as police, fire, service, legislative, and administrative functions.
In 2014, the General Fund had total revenues and other financing sources of $18,515,005 and expenditures
and other financing uses of $16,998,705 resulting in an increase in fund balance at December 31, 2014 of
$1,516,300. This represents 8.9 percent of the current year General Fund expenditures and other financing
uses. Total revenues and other financing sources were $525,947 less than last year’s. Expenditures and
other financing uses were approximately $1,465,000 less than last year’s primarily due to a decrease in
transfers — out of $1,754,700.
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The Recreation Center Fund accounts for the operation and maintenance of the City’s recreation facilities
and activities. In 2014, the Recreation Center Fund had total revenues and other financing sources of
$2,872,057 and expenditures of $2,892,555 resulting in a decrease in fund balance of $20,498 at
December 31, 2014. Total revenues and other financing sources were approximately $180,000 under last
year’s. Expenditures were $103,583 under last year’s expenditures. Recreation Center Fund revenue
decreased primarily due to decreases in fund transfers from $475,000 to $275,000. Expenditures decreased
due to City’s cost control efforts to reduce expenditures related to recreation activities.

The General Obligation Bond Retirement Fund accounts for the repayment of general obligation bonds of the
City. In 2014, the General Obligation Bond Retirement Fund had total revenues and other financing sources
of $11,270,688 and expenditures and other financing sources of $11,165,234 resulting in an increase in fund
balance of $105,454 at December 31, 2014. Total revenues and other financing sources ended $9,778,813
above last year’s and expenditures and other financing sources were $9,639,584 above than last year’s
expenditures due to the refinancing of two outstanding general obligation bonds in the current year.

The Capital Improvement Fund accounts for the various projects of the City financed by tax monies and
General Fund transfers. In 2014, the Capital Improvement Fund had total revenues of $1,112,517 and
expenditures of $1,509,493 resulting in a decrease in fund balance of $396,976 at December 31, 2014.
Revenues ended $333,530 under last year’s mainly due to a decrease in transfers, and expenditures increased
from 2013 by $449,420.

General Fund Budgeting Highlights

The City’s budget is prepared according to the general laws of the State of Ohio and is based on accounting
for certain transactions on a basis of cash receipts, disbursements, and encumbrances. The most significant
budgeted fund is the General Fund. During the course of 2014, the City supplemented the General Fund
budget three times. The General Fund’s actual expenditures, not including other financing uses, were
$1,462,036 under the final budgeted amount of $15,158,839.

All capital projects and requests for capital-type purchases are included in the annual appropriations
ordinance and any supplemental appropriations ordinance(s) as necessary. Recommendations for budget
changes are presented to City Council as a supplemental appropriations ordinance. The City Administration
may make budget changes that modify line items within departments within the same fund.

The General Fund supports many major activities such as the police division, fire division, engineer/building,
finance, Rocky River Municipal Court, and economic/community development departments as well as the
legislative and most executive activities. Some major capital projects are funded with General Fund dollars.
These funds are transferred from the General Fund to Capital Improvement Fund where the revenue and
expenditures for the capital improvement project are tracked and monitored.

For the General Fund, the original budgeted revenues, not including other financing sources, were
$17,089,744 and increased by $1,318,000 to $18,407,744 for final budgeted revenues, not including sale of
capital assets. The level of liquidity in the General Fund, measured by the unrestricted cash at year-end, was
about 26.6 percent of General Fund revenue and other financing sources.
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Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets

Table 3 shows fiscal 2014 balances of capital assets, net of any accumulated depreciation, as compared to
2013:

Table 3
Capital Assets, Net at December 31
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated Restated
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Land $ 2,017,826 $ 2,017,826 $ 39,516 $ 39,516 $ 2,057,342 $ 2,057,342
Land Improvements 203,158 203,158 0 0 203,158 203,158
Right-of-Way 0 0 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000
Construction in Progress 5,183,314 6,870,978 1,666,693 3,242,538 6,850,007 10,113,516
Land Improvements 3,236,743 3,222,064 0 0 3,236,743 3,222,064
Buildings 20,904,955 21,491,782 0 0 20,904,955 21,491,782
Equipment 762,055 796,435 4,575 14,234 766,630 810,669
Vehicles 265,802 138,956 0 0 265,802 138,956

Infrastructure:
Roads 11,934,218 9,321,795 0 0 11,934,218 9,321,795
Sidewalks 1,816,099 1,119,291 0 0 1,816,099 1,119,291
Traffic Signals 269,900 394,470 0 0 269,900 394,470
Storm Sewers 6,844,313 4,176,000 0 0 6,844,313 4,176,000
Sewer Lines 0 0 19,442,986 16,909,562 19,442,986 16,909,562

Total Capital

Assets, Net $ 53,438,383 $ 49,752,755 $ 21,403,770 $ 20,455,850 $ 74,842,153 $ 70,208,605

Total capital assets, net for the City as of December 31, 2014 were $74,842,153, a $4,633,548 increase from
2013. Capital asset additions of $6,976,793 were offset by $2,343,245 of depreciation expense.

The City seeks funding assistance for infrastructure projects as well as improving City facilities. It is
through this type of financial assistance as well as grants and careful use of debt that the City proved able to
improve upon capital assets and at the same time maintain revenue at a level that enables debt service loads

at comfortable margins.

See Note 10 for additional information on capital assets.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Debt

On December 31, 2014, the City had $21,106,111 in bonds and loans outstanding. Table 4 summarizes
bonds and loans outstanding.

Table 4
Outstanding Debt at Year-End
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
General Obligation Bonds $ 11,790,949 §$ 12,759,145 § 0 $ 0 $ 11,790,949 §$ 12,759,145
Special Assessment Bonds 390,000 430,000 0 0 390,000 430,000
OPWC Loans 0 0 8,700,960 6,199,329 8,700,960 6,199,329
OWDA Loans 0 0 224.202 237,698 224,202 237,698

Total Outstanding Debt ~ § 12,180,949 $_13.189,145 § _8,925.162 § _6.437,027 § 21,106,111 § 19,626,172

The outstanding general obligation bonds are composed of the following: 1) Refunded General Purpose,
Series 2014, of $4,540,000; 2) Civic Facility Improvements, Series 2005 of $405,000; 3) Refunded Civic
Facility Improvements, Series 2014 of $4,605,000 and 4) Refunded Municipal Court Facility, Series 2011 of
$1,610,000. There remains unamortized premiums related to these issues of $630,949.

The principal and interest of the Refunded Series 2014 General Purpose Bonds are paid from monies
transferred from the General Fund into the Debt Service Fund. The principal and interest of the Series 2005
and Refunded Series 2014 Civic Facility Improvements Bonds are paid from property tax levy up to 1.0 mill
approved for that purpose. The principal and interest of the Refunded Series 2011 Bonds are paid from court
costs assessed and collected in accordance with Ohio Revised Code Section 1901.26(B)(1) from the
Municipal Court Capital Improvement Fund.

The special assessment bonds consist of Erosion Control A & B Bonds: $225,000 (Series 1998) and
$165,000 (Series 2000). The principal and interest for these bonds are paid from the Special Assessment
Fund with monies collected through the Cuyahoga County Fiscal Officer from the affected taxpayers.

Principal and interest of the Ohio Water Development Authority (OWDA) loans are paid semi-annually from
the Sanitary Sewer Fund and will be paid in full in the year 2020.

The City’s overall legal debt margin was $61,393,216 on December 31, 2014.

See Note 18 of the basic financial statements for additional information on the City’s debt.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Current Financial Related Activities

The City has had historic steady growth from its economically sensitive income tax revenue which has been
balanced with its more foundational property tax revenue. In reacting to the extended economic downturn
and slow recovery, the City Administration managed activities and employment levels in a shrinking revenue
environment. In addition, some accumulated surpluses were consumed. With the elimination of the estate
tax as a revenue source, the City developed the concept of an income tax to provide resources for capital
projects and equipment purchases.

The concept enjoyed wide spread community support and during the general election in November 2014, the
residents voted to raise income tax from 1.5 percent to 2.0 percent and increase the reciprocity credit for
income taxes paid to another city from 1.0 percent to 1.5 percent to provide funding for capital improvements
and equipment purchases, either directly or through the payment of debt service for those obligations. The
tax increase will be effective January 1, 2015.

Two recent economic development activity projects will very soon contribute to both revenue sources. First,
a new luxury apartment complex became fully occupied in the third quarter of 2014. The complex brings
over 260 additional housing units to the City. The full value of the new construction will be added to the
City’s tax base in 2015. Construction began on a Whole Foods retail store in late 2014 with an opening
expected in August 2015.

The City’s commitment to its residents has always been one of full disclosure of financial matters of the City.
This CAFR is available to all residents who wish to review it. City of Rocky River, Charter, Article III,
Section 19, requires that, “[t]he Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, made to the City shall be filed with
the Clerk of Council, who shall retain the then current report for public inspection. Within thirty days after
the report is filed with the Clerk of Council, the Director of Finance shall submit a copy of the same report to
the Rocky River Public Library.” (Amended 11-6-90).

Contacting the City’s Finance Department

This CAFR is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, creditors and investors with a general overview of the
City’s finances and show the City’s accountability for all money it receives, spends, or invests. Any
questions about the CAFR or for additional financial information contact the Director of Finance, City of
Rocky River, 21012 Hilliard Boulevard, Rocky River, Ohio 44116, (440) 331-0600. Certain information
regarding the City is available through the website: www.rrcity.com.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2014

Assets:

Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents

Accrued Interest Receivable
Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance
for Doubtful Accounts
Intergovernmental Receivable
Internal Balances
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Municipal Income Taxes Receivable
Property Taxes Receivable
Special Assessments Receivable
Investment in Joint Venture
Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net
Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred Charge on Refunding

Liabilities:

Accounts Payable
Contracts Payable
Accrued Wages and Benefits
Intergovernmental Payable
Retainage Payable
Matured Compensated Absences
Accrued Interest Payable
Claims Payable
Long-Term Liabilities:

Due within One Year

Due in More than One Year

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Property Taxes

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:
Office on Aging
Refuse and Recycling
Capital Projects
Debt Service
Street Construction and Maintenance
Law Enforcement and Education
Security of Persons and Property
Community Impact
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

Business -
Governmental Type
Activities Activities Total
$ 13,507,328 3,651,701 17,159,029
5,510 0 5,510
405,071 702,705 1,107,776
1,083,611 0 1,083,611
(24,084) 24,084 0
192,714 8,473 201,187
2,924,375 0 2,924,375
6,622,765 0 6,622,765
624,125 0 624,125
0 5,024,256 5,024,256
7,404,298 1,956,209 9,360,507
46,034.085 19.447.561 65.481.646
78,779,798 30,814,989 109,594,787
329,029 0 329,029
325,300 241,323 566,623
266,200 0 266,200
187,314 7,355 194,669
635,934 13,233 649,167
350,175 67,348 417,523
108,140 0 108,140
48,491 5,796 54,287
137,881 0 137,881
1,399,724 198,287 1,598,011
14,996,868 8,795.331 23.792.199
18,456,027 9,328,673 27,784,700
6,388,307 0 6,388,307
41,586,463 12,478,608 54,065,071
159,197 0 159,197
119,601 0 119,601
4,801,489 0 4,801,489
869,385 0 869,385
881,576 0 881,576
225,765 0 225,765
573,715 0 573,715
3,312 0 3,312
5,043,990 9,007,708 14,051,698
$ 54,264,493 21,486,316 75,750,809
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Program Revenues

Operating Grants Capital Grants
Charges for and and
Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Government Activities:

General Government $ 6,700,108 $ 2,446,121 $ 35,811 $ 3,579,488
Security of Persons and Property 9,306,477 1,045,198 24,626 0
Public Health 1,175,476 578,496 0 2,286
Transportation 2,711,126 325 888,696 1,365,188
Leisure Time Activities 3,200,140 2,255,732 0 0
Community Development 651,553 225 0 0
Basic Utility Service 1,516,591 6,025 83,952 0
Interest and Fiscal Charges 411,086 0 0 0
Total Governmental Activities 25,672,557 6,332,122 1,033,085 4,946,962

Business-Type Activities:
Sanitary Sewer Charges 5,228,089 4,203,128 0 0
Total $ 30,900,646 $ 10,535,250 $ 1,033,085 $ 4,946,962

General Revenues:
Property Taxes Levied for:
General Purposes
Recreation
Office on Aging
Refuse and Recycling
Fire Levy
Police Levy
Capital Improvements
General Obligation Bond Retirement
Municipal Income Taxes Levied for:
General Purposes
Franchise Tax
Admissions Tax
Grants and Entitlements not Restricted to
Specific Programs
Investment Income
Other

Total General Revenues
Change in Net Position
Net Position Beginning of Year, Restated

Net Position End of Year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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$

Primary Government

Business-
Governmental Type
Activities Activities Total
(638,688) 3 0 $ (638,688)
(8,236,653) 0 (8,236,653)
(594,694) 0 (594,694)
(456,917) 0 (456,917)
(944,408) 0 (944,408)
(651,328) 0 (651,328)
(1,426,614) 0 (1,426,614)
(411,086) 0 (411,086)
(13,360,388) 0 (13,360,388)
0 (1,024.961) (1,024,961)
(13,360,388) (1,024,961) (14,385,349)
3,765,359 0 3,765,359
299,553 0 299,553
299,553 0 299,553
599,103 0 599,103
183,804 0 183,804
181,945 0 181,945
599,103 0 599,103
599,103 0 599,103
10,246,564 0 10,246,564
229,792 0 229,792
58,572 0 58,572
1,556,143 0 1,556,143
21,536 0 21,536
400,006 0 400,006
19,040,136 0 19,040,136
5,679,748 (1,024,961) 4,654,787
48.584.745 22,511,277 71.096.022
54,264,493 $ 21,486,316 $ 75,750,809
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

December 31, 2014

Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents $
Accrued Interest Receivable
Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance
For Doubtful Accounts
Intergovernmental Receivable
Interfund Receivable
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Municipal Income Taxes Receivable
Property Taxes Receivable
Special Assessments Receivable
Total Assets $

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances:

Liabilities:
Accounts Payable $
Contracts Payable
Accrued Wages and Benefits
Intergovernmental Payable
Retainage Payable
Matured Compensated Absences
Interfund Payable
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Property Taxes
Unavailable Revenue
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Assigned
Unassigned (Deficit)
Total Fund Balances (Deficit)
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances $

General
Obligation
Recreation Bond
General Center Retirement
5,038,163 $ 179,072 $ 220,024
4,587 0 0
335,969 0 0
465,940 20,988 41,976
450,000 0 0
32,219 6,503 0
2,924,375 0 0
3,828,352 303,837 607,676
0 0 0
13,079,605 $ 510,400 $ 869,676
82,603 $ 47,097 $ 0
0 0 0
111,392 30,051 0
290,660 59,267 0
0 0 0
106,588 0 0
0 450,000 0
591.243 586.415 0
3,692,840 293,082 586,166
2,306,711 31,743 63.486
5,999,551 324,825 649,652
41,608 6,503 0
0 0 220,024
3,752,213 0 0
2.694.990 (407,343) 0
6.488.811 (400,840) 220,024
13,079,605 $ 510,400 $ 869,676

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Total Total
Capital Non-major Governmental
Improvement Funds Funds
3,061,152 4,145,336 $ 12,643,747
0 923 5,510
0 69,102 405,071
86,950 467,757 1,083,611
0 0 450,000
0 153,992 192,714
0 0 2,924,375
607,677 1,275,223 6,622,765
0 624,125 624,125
3,755,779 6,736,458 $ 24,951,918
0 195,600 $ 325,300
266,200 0 266,200
0 45,871 187,314
0 286,007 635,934
350,175 0 350,175
0 1,552 108,140
0 0 450,000
616,375 529.030 2.323.063
586,167 1,230,052 6,388,307
63,486 1,000,498 3.465.924
649,653 2,230,550 9.854,231
0 153,992 202,103
2,489,751 3,898,254 6,608,029
0 0 3,752,213
0 (75.368) 2.212.279
2.489,751 3.976.878 12,774.624
3,755,779 6,736,458 $ 24,951,918
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to Net Position of Governmental Activities

December 31, 2014

Total Governmental Funds Balance

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of
Net Position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and therefore are deferred inflows in the funds.

Delinquent Property Taxes

Municipal Income Taxes

Special Assessments

Charges for Services

Intergovernmental

Total

In the Statement of Activities, interest is accrued on outstanding
bonds, whereas in governmental funds, an interest expenditure is
reported when due.

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the
costs of certain activities, such as insurance to individual funds.
The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund are included
in governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position.
Net Position
Internal Balance
Total

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and are therefore not reported in the funds.

General Obligation Bonds

Deferred Charges on Refunding

Special Assessments

Compensated Absences

Police and Fire Pension Liability

Total

Net Position of Governmental Activities

$ 234,458
1,666,738
624,125
122,471

818,132

725,700
(24.084)

(11,790,949)
329,029
(390,000)
(3,818,947)
(396.696)

§ 12,774,624

53,438,383

3,465,924

(48,491)

701,616

(16.067.563)
§ 54,264,493

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Revenues:
Property Taxes
Municipal Income Taxes
Other Local Taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for Services
Fines, Fees and Permits
Special Assessments
Investment Income
Rentals
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:

Current:
General Government
Security of Persons and Property
Public Health
Transportation
Leisure Time Activities
Community Development
Basic Utility Service

Capital Outlay

Debt Service:
Bond Issuance Costs
Principal Retirement
Interest and Fiscal Charges

Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets
Premium on Issuance of Debt
Issuance of Debt
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent
Transfers - In
Transfers - Out

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances (Deficit) at Beginning of Year, Restated

Fund Balances (Deficit) at End of Year

General
Obligation
Recreation Bond
General Center Retirement

3,774,360 299,553 599,103
10,194,101 0 0
58,572 0 0
1,149,016 41,976 83,952
41,662 2,247,130 0
3,062,596 0 0
0 0 0

19,798 0 0
84,477 8,398 0
112.777 0 0
18,497,359 2.597.057 683,055
4,492,773 0 0
7,483,354 0 0
0 0 0

712,660 0 0
268,147 2,891,787 0
669,155 0 0

0 0 0

19,316 768 0

0 0 128,353

0 0 1,055,000

0 0 337,601
13,645,405 2,892,555 1,520,954
4,851,954 (295.498) (837.899)
17,646 0 0

0 0 592,633

0 0 9,180,000
0 0 (9,644,280)

0 275,000 815,000
(3,353,300) 0 0
(3,335,654) 275,000 943,353
1,516,300 (20,498) 105,454
4,972,511 (380,342) 114,570
6,488,811 (400,840) 220,024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Total Total
Capital Non-major Governmental
Improvement Funds Funds
599,103 1,264,405 6,536,524
0 0 10,194,101
229,792 0 288,364
73,661 1,851,067 3,199,672
2,360 543,871 2,835,023
0 369,689 3,432,285
0 53,920 53,920
0 1,738 21,536
0 0 92,875
207,601 79,628 400.006
1,112,517 4,164,318 27,054,306
0 479,735 4,972,508
0 1,696,685 9,180,199
0 1,153,116 1,153,116
0 1,251,228 1,963,888
0 0 3,159,934
0 0 669,155
0 1,511,706 1,511,655
1,509,493 551,704 2,081,172
0 0 128,353
0 283,224 1,338,224
0 86,065 423.666
1,509.493 7.013.463 26.581.870
(396.976) (2,849.145) 472.436
0 0 17,646
0 0 592,633
0 0 9,180,000
0 0 (9,644,280)
0 2,263,300 3,353,300
0 0 (3.353.300)
0 2,263,300 145,999
(396,976) (585,845) 618,435
2,886,727 4,562,723 12,156,189
2,489,751 3,976.878 12,774,624
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 618,435

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of
Activities are different because:

Governmental Funds report Capital Outlay as expenditures. However
in the Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over
their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the
amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current

period.
Capital Outlay $ 5,691,128
Depreciation (2.005.500)
Total 3,685,628

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the Funds.

Property and Other Local Taxes (9,001)
Municipal Income Taxes 52,463
Special Assessments (99,627)
Charges for Services (13,312)
Intergovernmental (20,642)
Total (90,119)

Repayment of bond principal and payment to refunded escrow agent is
an expenditure in the Governmental Funds, but these expenditures
reduce long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.

General Obligation Bonds 1,265,000
Special Assessment Bonds 40,000
Payment to Refunded Escrow Agent 9.644.280
Total 10,949,280

Proceeds from debt issues are Other Financing Sources in the funds,
but increase long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position Also,
Governmental Funds report the effect of premiums and similar items
when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and
amortized in the Statement of Activities:

General Obligation Bonds (9,180,000)
Premium on General Obligation Bonds (592.633)
Total (9,772,633)

(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

26



City of Rocky River, Ohio

Reconciliation of The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities (continued)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require
the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as
expenditures in Governmental Funds.

Accrued Interest on Bonds 1,590
Amortization of Bond Premium 27,611
Loss on Refunding (16,621)
Total 12,580

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not
require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not
reported as expenditures in Governmental Funds.

Compensated Absences 115,685
Police and Fire Pension Liability 33,224
Total 148,909

The Internal Service Fund used by management to charge the costs of
insurance to individual funds is not reported in the entity-wide
Statement of Activities. Governmental expenditures and related
internal service fund revenues are eliminated. The net expense of the
Internal Service Fund is allocated amongst the Governmental

Activities.
Change in Net Position 131,154
Change in Internal Balance (3.486)
Total 127,668
Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 5,679,748
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance —
Budget (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) and Actual

General Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Variance with

Final Budget
Budget Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Property Taxes $ 4,181,833 $ 4,181,833 $ 3,774,360 (407,473)
Municipal Income Taxes 8,850,000 9,850,000 10,087,163 237,163
Other Local Taxes 35,000 35,000 58,572 23,572
Intergovernmental 426,111 651,111 1,200,724 549,613
Charges for Services 52,300 52,300 41,662 (10,638)
Fines, Fees, and Permits 3,347,500 3,427,500 3,053,445 (374,055)
Investment Income 20,000 20,000 18,383 (1,617)
Rentals 80,000 80,000 84,477 4,477
Other 97.000 110,000 112,777 2,777
Total Revenues 17,089,744 18,407,744 18,431,563 23.819
Expenditures:
Current:
General Government 5,235,409 5,260,709 4,488,524 772,185
Security of Persons and Property 8,019,141 8,035,641 7,517,222 518,419
Transportation 771,460 804,078 717,798 86,280
Leisure Time Activities 225,677 300,441 268,816 31,625
Community Development 713,812 714,612 672,845 41,767
Capital Outlay 46,858 43,358 31,598 11,760
Total Expenditures 15,012,357 15,158,839 13.696.803 1,462,036
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 2,077,387 3,248,905 4,734,760 1,485,855
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Sale of Capital Assets 12,000 12,000 17,646 5,646
Transfers - Out (3,495,000) (4,053,300) (3,353,300) 700,000
Advances — Out 0 (8.000) (8.000) 0
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (3.483.000) (4,049,300) (3,343.654) 705,646
Net Change in Fund Balance (1,405,613) (800,395) 1,391,106 2,191,501
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 3,342,691 3,342,691 3,342,691 0
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 173,063 173,063 173,063 0
Fund Balance at End of Year $ 2,110,141 $ 2715359 $ _4,906,860 $ 2,191,501

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance —
Budget (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) and Actual

Recreation Center Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Variance with

Final Budget
Budget Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues:

Property Taxes $ 331,893 $ 331,893 $ 299,553 $ (32,340)

Intergovernmental 0 0 41,976 41,976

Charges for Services 2,304,000 2,304,000 2,249,555 (54,445)

Rentals 20,000 20,000 8.398 (11,602)

Total Revenues 2,655,893 2,655,893 2.599.482 (56.411)
Expenditures:

Current:

Leisure Time Activities 3,079,748 3,207,838 3,020,559 187,279

Capital Outlay 1,000 770 768 2

Total Expenditures 3,080,748 3,208,608 3,021,327 187,281
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (424,855) (552,715) (421,845) 130,870
Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers - In 275,000 275,000 275,000 0
Net Change in Fund Balances (149,855) (277,715) (146,845) 130,870
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 172,201 172,201 172,201 0
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 84,026 84,026 84,026 0
Fund Balance at End of Year $ _ 106,372 $ (21.488) $ _ 109,382 $ 130,870

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2014

Assets:
Current Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts Receivable
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Investment in Joint Venture
Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net
Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

Liabilities:

Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Wages and Benefits
Intergovernmental Payable
Retainage Payable
Accrued Interest Payable
Claims Payable
Compensated Absences Payable
OWDA and OPWC Loans Payable

Total Current Liabilities

Long-term Liabilities:

Accrued Compensated Absences (Net of Current Portion)
OWDA and OPWC Loans Payable (Net of Current Portion)

Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

Net Position reported for Business-Type Activities in the Statement
of Net Position are different because they include accumulated

overpayments to the Internal Service Fund:

Net Position of Business-Type Activities

Business-Type Governmental
Activities Activities -
Sanitary Internal Service
Sewer Fund
$ 3,651,701  § 863,581
702,705 0
8.473 0
4,362,879 863,581
5,024,256 0
1,956,209 0
19,447,561 0
26,428,026 0
30,790,905 863.581
241,323 0
7,355 0
13,233 0
67,348 0
5,796 0
0 137,881
2,970 0
195,317 0
533,342 137.881
65,486 0
8.729.845 0
8,795,331 0
9,328,673 137.881
12,478,608 0
8.983.624 725,700
21,462,232 $ 725,700

24,084

$ 21,486,316

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.



City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services

Operating Expenses:
Personal Service
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Heat, Light and Power
Depreciation
Other
Claims
Total Operating Expenses

Operating (Loss) Income
Non-Operating (Expenses):

Interest Expense

Loss in Joint Venture

Total Non-Operating Expenses

Change in Net Position
Net Position at Beginning of Year, Restated
Net Position at End of Year
Amount reported for Business-Type Activities in the Statement of
Activities are different because of a portion of the Change in Net
Position of the Internal Service Fund is reported with Business-Type

Activities:

Change in Net Position of Business-Type Activities

Business-Type Governmental
Activities Activities -
Sanitary Internal Service
Sewer Fund
$ 4,203,128 § 2,396,305
467,424 0
58,398 0
3,867,794 277,901
21,483 0
337,745 0
22,230 0
0 1,987,250
4,775,074 2,265,151
(571,946) 131,154
(16,374) 0
(440,127) 0
(456,501) 0
(1,028,447) 131,154
22,490,679 594,546
$__ 21462232 §___ 725,700

3.486

$_ (1,024,961)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Fund Types

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Received from Customers
Cash Payments for Goods and Services
Cash Payments to Employees for Services and Benefits
Cash Payments for Claims
Cash Payments for Other Operating Expenses
Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Capital Acquisitions
OWDA and OPWC Loan Proceeds
Principal Paid on OWDA and OPWC Loans
Interest Paid on OWDA Loan
Net Cash Provided for Capital and Related Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital Contributed to Joint Venture
Net Cash Used for Investing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year, Restated

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

$

Reconciliation of Operating (Loss) Income to Net Cash From Operating Activities:

Operating (Loss) Income
Adjustments:
Depreciation
Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts Receivable
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Intergovernmental Receivable
Accounts Payable
Retainage Payable
Accrued Wages and Benefits
Compensated Absences Payable
Intergovernmental Payable
Claims Payable
Total Adjustments
Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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$

$

Business-Type Governmental
Activities Activities -
Sanitary Internal Service
Sewer Fund
4,807,602 2,396,305
(4,938,054) (302,978)
(476,554) 0
0 (2,137,508)
(22,230) 0
(629.236) (44.181)
(1,285,665) 0
2,577,049
(88,914) 0
(14.299) 0
1,188,171 0
(211,592) 0
(211,592) 0
347,343 (44,181)
3.304.358 907,762
3,651,701 863,581
(571,946) 131,154
337,745 0
(87,502) 0
787 0
691,976 0
(915,409) (25,077)
(71,210) 0
1,830 0
(10,961) 0
(4,546) 0
0 (150,258)
(57.290) (175,335)
(629,236) (44.,181)




City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Investment Trust

Individual
Investment
Account Agency
Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 0o S 333,806
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
In Segregated Accounts 3,223,040 434,798
Total Assets 3,223,040 $ 768,604
Liabilities:
Undistributed Monies 0 3 259,056
Deposits Held and Due to Others 0 509.548
Total Liabilities 0 $ 768.604
Net Position:
Held in Trust for Participants $ 3,223,040

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Investment Trust Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Additions:
Interest
Capital Transaction — Purchases
Total Additions

Deductions:
Capital Transaction — Redemptions
Distributions to Participants
Total Deductions
Change in Net Position

Net Position Beginning of Year

Net Position End of Year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Individual
Investment
Account

$ 3,628

2,584,805
2,588.433

2,660,581
3.429
2,664,010
(75,577)
3,298,617

$__ 3.223,040



City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 1: Description of City and Reporting Entity

The City of Rocky River (City) is a home rule municipal corporation, established under the laws of the State
of Ohio and operated under a charter. The charter provides for a Mayor/City Council form of government
whereby the Mayor is the administrative officer of the City. The Charter was originally adopted in 1960 and
has been amended periodically; most recently in 2014. The Mayor, Law Director and seven-member City
Council all serve two-year terms.

Reporting Entity

For financial reporting purposes, the reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component
units, and other organizations that are included to ensure that the financial statements of the City are not
misleading. The primary government consists of all funds, departments, boards, and agencies that are not
legally separate from the City.

The City provides various services including police and fire protection, health, parks and recreation, street
maintenance, planning and zoning, sewer services, municipal court, senior adult, and general administrative
services. The operation of these activities is directly controlled by the City Administration and City Council
(through the budgetary process). None of these services are provided by a legally separate organization;
therefore, these operations are included in the primary government.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the City is financially accountable. The City is
financially accountable for an organization if the City appoints a voting majority of the organization’s
governing board and (1) the City is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or
provided by the organization; or (2) the City is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization’s
resources; the City is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance deficits of or
provide financial support to the organization; or the City is obligated for the debt of the organization.
Component units may also include organizations for which the City approves the budget, the issuance of
debt, or the levying of taxes. The City has no component units.

The Rocky River Wastewater Treatment Plant (Plant) is a joint venture among the cities of Rocky River, Bay
Village, Fairview Park, and Westlake. The Plant has a Management Committee consisting of the Mayor of
each Member City or his/her designee and a fifth member who is appointed by the four Mayors. The
Director of Finance of the City of Rocky River serves as fiscal agent for the Plant.

The Plant is managed by the City of Rocky River with a report of operational activities made to the
Management Committee annually. Personnel at the Plant are employees of the City of Rocky River.
Pursuant to the organizing agreement (and amendments), the Plant is jointly owned by the Member Cities
with each Member City’s share being in proportion to its contribution to the total cost of constructing certain
improvements. The Plant is a joint venture in which each Member City has an equity interest.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 1: Description of City and Reporting Entity (continued)
Reporting Entity (continued)

The City has an explicit and measurable equity interest in the Plant. There exists a residual interest in the
assets upon dissolution of the joint venture. The City also has an ongoing financial responsibility for its
share of the joint venture liabilities. Additionally, the City has an ongoing financial responsibility since the
City’s participation is essential to the continued existence of the Plant. The Plant is further described in Note
11 of the basic financial statements.

The City participates in other organizations: jointly governed organizations and a related organization. See
Notes 19 and 25 to the basic financial statements for further information. The City also participates in two
Joint Economic Development Zones, see Note 26 for further information.

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles. The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below.

A. Basis of Presentation

The City’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a Statement of Net
Position and a Statement of Activities, and fund financial statements, which provide a more detailed level of
financial information.

Government-wide Financial Statements The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities
display information about the City as a whole. These statements include the financial activities of the
primary government, except for fiduciary funds. The activity of the internal service fund is eliminated to
avoid “doubling up” of the related revenues and expenses. The statements distinguish between those
activities of the City that are governmental and those that are considered business-type.

The Statement of Net Position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type
activities of the City at year-end. The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses
and program revenues for each program or function of the City’s governmental activities and for the
business-type activities of the City. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service,
program or department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include
charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants, and contributions that
are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned
on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program. Revenues which are not classified as
program revenues are presented as general revenues of the City, with certain limited exceptions. The
comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental
program or business-type activity is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the City.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
A. Basis of Presentation (continued)

Fund Financial Statements During the year, the City segregates transactions related to certain City functions
or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund
financial statements are designed to present financial information of the City at this more detailed level. The
focus of governmental and enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is
presented in a separate column. Non-major funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. The
internal service fund is presented in a single column on the face of the proprietary fund statements. Fiduciary
funds are reported by type.

B. Fund Accounting

The City uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. The City reports three categories of funds:
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.

Governmental Funds  Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions are
financed. Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial
resources. Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes for
which they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid.
The difference between governmental fund assets and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources is reported
as fund balance. The following are the City’s major governmental funds:

General Fund The General Fund accounts for all financial resources except those required to be
accounted for in another fund. The General Fund balance is available to the City for any purpose
provided it is expended or transferred according to the charter of the City and/or the general laws of
the State of Ohio.

Recreation Center Fund The Recreation Center Fund accounts for membership fees, program fees,
General Fund subsidies and levied property tax revenue used for the operation and maintenance of the

City’s recreation activities.

General Obligation Bond Retirement Fund The General Obligation Bond Retirement Fund accounts
for resources that are utilized for the repayment of general obligation bonds of the City.

Capital Improvement Fund The Capital Improvement Fund accounts for the various projects of the
City financed by tax monies and General Fund subsidies.

The other governmental funds of the City account for grants and other resources whose use is restricted to a
particular purpose.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
B. Fund Accounting (continued)

Proprietary Funds Proprietary fund reporting focuses on the determination of operating income, changes in
net position, financial position and cash flows. Proprietary funds are classified as either enterprise or internal
service.

Enterprise Fund Enterprise funds may be used for any activity for which a fee is charged to
external users for goods and services. The City’s major enterprise fund accounts for the collection of
sanitary sewer charges and the accumulation of resources to rehabilitate through acquisition,
construction, or improvement the City’s sanitary sewer infrastructure. This fund also accounts for
the City’s joint venture investment in the Rocky River Wastewater Treatment Plant.

Internal Service Fund Internal service funds account for the financing of services provided by one
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis.
The City’s internal service fund accounts for a self-insurance program for employee health benefits.

Fiduciary Funds Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The
fiduciary fund category is split into four classifications: pension trust funds, investment trust funds, private-
purpose trust funds, and agency funds. Trust funds are used to account for assets held by the City for
individuals, private organizations, or other governments and are therefore not available to support the City’s
own programs. The City’s trust fund is an investment trust fund established to account for the investing
activity of the Rocky River Wastewater Treatment Plant which is managed by the City. Agency funds are
custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and thus do not involve measurement of results of operations.
The City’s agency funds are for deposits, the Tri-City Council of Governments, donations and bequests,
Municipal Court, and the S.A.F.E. Council of Governments.

C. Measurement Focus

Government-wide Financial Statements The government-wide financial statements are prepared using a
flow of economic resources measurement focus. All assets and deferred outflows of resources and all
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources associated with the operation of the City are included on the
Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Activities presents increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases
(e.g., expenses) in total net position.

Fund Financial Statements All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial
resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and deferred outflows of
resources and current liabilities and deferred inflows of resources generally are included on the Balance
Sheet. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances reports on the sources (i.e.,
revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) of current
financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the
government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore
include a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-
wide statements and the fund financial statements for governmental funds.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
C. Measurement Focus (continued)

Like the government-wide statements, all proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. All assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are
included on the Statement of Fund Net Position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund
Net Position presents increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in total net position. The
Statement of Cash Flows provides information about how the City finances and meets the cash flow needs of
its proprietary activities.

D. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on the
financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting; proprietary and fiduciary funds also use the accrual basis of accounting. Governmental funds
use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and modified accrual basis of
accounting arise in the recognition of revenue, the recording of deferred inflows/outflows of resources and in
the presentation of expenses versus expenditures.

Revenues - Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in
which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the
exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the year in which the resources are
measurable and become available. Available means that the resources will be collected within the current
year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current year.
For the City, available means expected to be received within 60 days of year-end.

Non-exchange transactions, in which the City receives value without directly giving equal value in return,
include income taxes, property taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from
income taxes is recognized in the period in which the income is earned. Revenue from property taxes is
recognized in the year for which the taxes are levied (See Note 7). Revenue from grants, entitlements, and
donations is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility
requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used
or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in which the City must provide local
resources to be used for a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are
provided to the City on a reimbursement basis. On the modified accrual basis, revenue from non-exchange
transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and

available at year-end: income taxes, State of Ohio levied locally shared taxes (including gasoline tax and
motor vehicle license fees), fines and forfeitures, interest, grants and entitlements, and rent.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
D. Basis of Accounting (continued)

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources In addition to assets, the statements of financial position will
sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources,
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an
outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. For the City, deferred outflows of resources include a
deferred charge on refunding reported in the government-wide Statement of Net Position. A deferred charge
on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price.
This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt.

In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. For the City, deferred
inflows of resources include property taxes and unavailable revenue. Property taxes represent amounts for
which there is an enforceable legal claim as of December 31, 2014, but which were levied to finance year
2015 operations. These amounts have been recorded as a deferred inflow on both the government-wide
Statement of Net Position and the governmental fund financial statements. Unavailable revenue is reported
only on the governmental funds Balance Sheet, and represents receivables which will not be collected within
the available period. For the City, unavailable revenue includes delinquent property taxes, income taxes,
special assessments, and intergovernmental grants. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow
of resources in the period the amounts become available.

Expenses/Expenditures On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are
incurred.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in
which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and
amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds.

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents
To improve cash management, cash received by all funds is pooled. Monies for these funds, including
proprietary funds, are maintained in this pool. Individual fund integrity is maintained through City records.

Each fund’s interest in the pool is presented as “Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents.”

Investments of the cash management pool and investments with original maturities of three months or less at
the time they are purchased by the City are presented on the financial statements as cash equivalents.

Except for nonparticipating investment contracts, investments are reported at fair value which is based on

quoted market prices. Nonparticipating investment contracts and nonnegotiable certificates of deposit are
reported at cost.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
E. Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued)

The City has invested funds in the State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio (STAR Ohio) during fiscal year
2014. STAR Ohio is a statewide investment pool managed by the Ohio Treasurer of State. Participation is
offered to Ohio political subdivisions as defined in the Ohio Revised Code Section 135.45(F)(2)(a). STAR
Ohio is not registered with the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC) as an investment company, but
maintains a policy to operate as a “2a7 like pool” in a manner consistent with GASB Statement No. 31
“Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools.”
Investments in STAR Ohio are valued at STAR Ohio’s share price which is the price at which the investment
could be sold.

Investment procedures are restricted by the provisions of the City Charter and the general laws of the State of
Ohio. Interest revenue credited to the General Fund during 2014 amounted to $19,798, which includes
$12,563 assigned from other City funds.

The City serves as fiscal agent for the Rocky River Wastewater Treatment Plant. A related individual
investment account is presented, in the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position of the financial statements, as
“Cash and Cash Equivalents in Segregated Accounts” and represents deposits or nonnegotiable certificates of
deposit which are reported at cost. During 2014, investments purchased through this account were limited to
nonnegotiable certificates of deposit and are reported at cost.

F. Inventory

Inventories are presented at cost on a first-in, first-out basis and are expended/expensed when used.
Inventory consists of expendable materials and supplies.

G. Deferred Charge on Refunding

The difference between the reacquisition price (funds required to refund the old debt) of various refunding
bonds and the net carrying amount of the old debt, the deferred amount (loss) on refunding, is being
amortized as a component of interest expense. This accounting loss is amortized over the remaining life of
the old debt or the life of the new debt whichever is shorter, using the effective interest method and is
presented as deferred outflows of resources on the Statement of Net Position.

H. Investment in Joint Venture

The investment in the Rocky River Wastewater Treatment Plant joint venture is reported using the equity
method of accounting.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
I. Prepaid Items

Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond December 31, 2014 are recorded as
prepaid items using the consumption method by recording a current asset for the prepaid amount and
reflecting the expenditure/expense in the year in which services are consumed.

J. Capital Assets

General capital assets are capital assets which are associated with and arise from governmental activities.
They generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds. General capital assets are reported in the
governmental activities column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position but are not reported in the
fund financial statements. Capital assets utilized by the proprietary funds are reported both in the business-
type activities column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position and in the respective funds.

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions and
retirements during the year. Donated capital assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the date
received. The City maintains a capitalization threshold of $2,500. Improvements are capitalized; the costs of
normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend an asset’s life
are not.

All capital assets are depreciated except for land; certain land improvements; rights of way and construction
in progress. Improvements are depreciated over the estimated remaining useful lives of the related capital
assets. For 2014, the City’s infrastructure consists of roads, traffic signals, sidewalks, and storm sewers. In
addition, the City has recorded construction in progress for City road and sewer projects initiated in 2014.
Useful lives for infrastructure were estimated based on the City’s historical records of necessary
improvements and replacement. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Buildings 50 Years
Equipment 5-10 Years
Vehicles 5 Years
Infrastructure 18 - 75 Years

K. Interfund Balances

On the fund financial statements, outstanding interfund loans and unpaid amounts for interfund services are
reported as “Interfund Receivable/Payable.” Interfund loans which do not represent available expendable
resources are offset by a fund balance reserve account. Interfund balance amounts are eliminated in the
Statement of Net Position, except for any net residual amounts due between governmental and business-type
activities, which are presented as internal balances. See Note 21 for interfund receivables/payables as of
December 31, 2014.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
L. Compensated Absences

Vacation benefits are accrued as a liability as the benefits are earned if the employees’ rights to receive
compensation are attributable to services already rendered and it is probable that the City will compensate
the employees for the benefits through paid-time-off or some other means. The City records a liability for all
accumulated unused vacation time when earned for all employees with more than one month of service.

Sick leave benefits are accrued as a liability using the vesting method. The liability includes the employees
who are currently eligible to receive termination benefits and those that the City has identified as probable of
receiving payment in the future (those employees who will be eligible to receive termination payments in the
next 20 years). The amount is based on accumulated sick leave and employee wage rates at year-end taking
into consideration any limits specified in the City’s termination policy and employees with two or more years
of service.

M. Payables, Accrued Liabilities and Long-term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements, and all payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations payable from proprietary funds are
reported on the proprietary fund financial statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely
manner and in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
claims and judgments and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a
liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current
year. Bonds and long-term loans are recognized as a liability on the governmental fund financial statements
when due.

N. Bond Premiums and Discounts
On the government-wide financial statements, bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over
the term of the bonds using the straight line method. Bond premiums are presented as an increase of the face

amount of the general obligation bonds payable. On fund financial statements, bond premiums are receipted
in the year the bonds are issued.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
O. Fund Balance

Fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to
observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds. The classifications are
as follows:

Nonspendable: The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent because
they are not in spendable form, or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The “not in
spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash. It also includes the
long-term amount of loans receivable, as well as property acquired for resale, unless the use of the
proceeds from the collection of those receivables or from the sale of those properties is restricted,
committed, or assigned.

Restricted: Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are
either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments or is imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation (City Council’s resolutions).

Enabling legislation authorizes the City to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise mandate payment of
resources (from external resource providers) and includes a legally enforceable requirement that those
resources be used only for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation. Legal enforceability means
that the City can be compelled by an external party, such as citizens, public interest groups, or the
judiciary, to use resources created by enabling legislation only for the purposes specified by the
legislation.

Committed: The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the
specific purposes imposed by a formal action (resolution) of City Council. Those committed amounts
cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City Council removes or changes the specified use by
taking the same type of action (resolution) it employed to previously commit those amounts. In contrast
to fund balance that is restricted by enabling legislation, committed fund balance classification may be re-
deployed for other purposes with appropriate due process. Constraints imposed on the use of committed
amounts are imposed by the City Council, separate from the authorization to raise the underlying revenue;
therefore, compliance with these constraints are not considered to be legally enforceable. Committed
fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund
have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

Assigned: Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the City for
specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. These amounts
are assigned by City Council. In governmental funds other than the General Fund, assigned fund balance
represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or committed. In the General Fund, assigned
amounts represent intended uses established by the City Council or a City official delegated that authority
by the City Council or ordinance or State statute. State statute authorized the Finance Director to assign
fund balance for purchases on order provided such amounts have been lawfully appropriated.
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City of Rocky River, Ohio
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
O. Fund Balance (continued)

City Council assigned fund balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue and appropriations in the
2015 appropriated budget.

Unassigned: Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all
spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other governmental funds, the unassigned
classification is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for
which amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned.

The City applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly, within
unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then unassigned
amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund
balance classifications could be used.

P. Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction or
improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on
their use either through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation or through external restrictions
imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.

The government-wide Statement of Net Position reports $7,634,040 of restricted net position, a portion of
which is restricted by enabling legislation. The City applies restricted resources when an expense is incurred
for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net positions are available.

Q. Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the proprietary
funds. For the City, these revenues are charges for services for sanitary sewer services and self-insurance
programs. Operating expenses are necessary costs that have been incurred in order to provide the good or
service that is the primary activity of the fund. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are
reported as non-operating.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
R. Interfund Activity

Transfers between governmental and business-type activities on the government-wide statements are
reported in the same manner as general revenues.

Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as
expenditures/expenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a
requirement for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other
financing sources/uses in governmental funds and after non-operating revenues/expenses in proprietary
funds. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to the funds that initially
paid for them are not presented on the financial statements.

S. Extraordinary and Special Items

Extraordinary items are transactions or events that are both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence.
Special items are transactions or events that are within the control of the City and that are either unusual in
nature or infrequent in occurrence. During 2014, there were no extraordinary or special items.

T. Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

U. Budgetary Data

All funds, except agency funds, are legally required to be budgeted and appropriated. The major documents
prepared are the alternative tax budget information, the certificate of estimated resources, and the
appropriations ordinance, all of which are prepared on the budgetary basis of accounting. The alternative tax
budget information demonstrates a need for existing or increased tax rates. The certificate of estimated
resources establishes a limit on the amount City Council may appropriate. The appropriations ordinance is
City Council’s authorization to spend resources and sets annual limits on expenditures plus encumbrances at
the level of control selected by City Council. The legal level of control has been established by City Council
through the appropriation ordinance at the object level within each department for the General Fund and at
the object level for all other funds. Budgetary modifications may only be made by ordinance of the City
Council at the legal level of control.

The certificate of estimated resources may be amended during the year if projected increases or decreases in
revenue are identified by the Director of Finance. The amounts reported as the original budgeted amounts on
the budgetary statements reflect the amounts on the certificate of estimated resources when the original
appropriations were adopted. The amounts reported as the final budgeted amounts on the budgetary
statements reflect the amounts on the amended certificate of estimated resources in effect at the time the final
appropriations were enacted by City Council.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
U. Budgetary Data (continued)

The appropriation ordinance is subject to amendment throughout the year with the restriction that
appropriations cannot exceed estimated resources. The amounts reported as the original budgeted amounts
reflect the first appropriation ordinance for that fund that covered the entire year, including encumbered
amounts carried forward from prior years. The amounts reported as the final budgeted amounts represent the
final appropriation amounts passed by City Council during the year.

V. Reclassification

Prior year data presented in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis have been reclassified in order to be
comparative and provide an understanding of the changes in financial position and operations. Certain
reclassifications have been made to the 2013 data in order to conform to the 2014 presentation. In addition,
see Note 29 for detail on the restatement of 2013 balances in the current year.

Note 3: Change in Accounting Principles

For 2014, the City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 69,
Government Combinations and Disposals of Government Operations and GASB Statement No. 70,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Financial Guarantees.

GASB Statement No. 69 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for mergers, acquisitions,
and transfers of operations (i.e., government combinations). The Statement also provides guidance on how
to determine the gain or loss on a disposal of government operations. The implementation of this statement
did not result in any change in the City’s financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 70 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for situations where a state
or local government, as a guarantor, agrees to indemnify a third-party obligation holder under specified
conditions (i.e. nonexchange financial guarantees). The issuer of the guaranteed obligation can be a legally
separate entity or individual, including a blended or discretely presented component unit. Guidance is
provided for situ